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Appendix 7.1.2.  BRIEF HISTORY OF THE EVOLUTION OF MILLTOWN PARK

21 Eighteenth and early nineteenth century development
The surviving early elements of the house suggest a late-eighteenth- or early-nineteenth-century date
and this provides a likely indication as to when the house was built and by whom.

The mapping evidence is sparse, there being no maps of County Dublin produced in the sixty-year
period between those prepared by John Roque in the 1750s and John Taylor in 1816. John Rocque's
map of the county was published in 1760, though the scale is small, and the future site of Milltown
Park was depicted with greater clarity at a larger scale on his map of Dublin Bay, which was published
in 1757. The extract reproduced below shows the road now known as Sandford Road running from
the top left and turning through a right angle into what is now Milltown Road. Coldblow Lane, running

S

off to the top of the |mage is the present Belmont Avenue.

Fig. 2 Detail of John Roque’s map of 1757, with structure evident to south of the present-day Milltown Park House

Running off to the right from Milltown Road in this map is the former road leading to Clonskeagh Bridge,
now represented by Prospect Lane. The only buildings shown on the western side of Milltown Road
were located opposite Prospect Lane, while the site of Milltown Park is not yet developed.

George Taylor and Andrew Skinner's Maps of the Roads of Ireland includes maps at a very small
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scale, though they do tend to indicate the locations of the larger houses, as these were occupied by
the prospective purchasers of their book. Milltown Park is not depicted on either the 1778 edition or
the expanded edition of 1783.
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Fig. 3 Detail of John Taylor's map of 1816

The first map of County Dublin to be produced after Rocque’s 1760 edition was published by John Taylor
in 1816. This was a speculative venture and was not commissioned by the Dublin County Grand Jury.
As the detail from this map that is reproduced above shows, there is no sign of a house at Milltown Park
on Taylor's map. The scale is small, but the original farmhouse on the lands is still visible at the bend of
the road just to the south of the number 2, while the dashed line opposite represents the line of Prospect

Lane.

While John Taylor was working on the surveys prior to the publication of his map the County Dublin
Grand Jury commissioned another surveyor, William Duncan, to produce a map of the county. This map
was finally published in 1821 and is in a similar style to Taylor’s, though with a heavier use of hachuring
to depict sloping ground. This map shows a driveway opening off Sandford Road opposite Belmont
Avenue and leading southward to a house of some substance. The house is enclosed within a
rectangular site and the property is labelled “Coldblow Demesne”. Coldblow was the name for a small
village on Sandford Road and the area in its vicinity; the village was later subsumed into the village of

Ranelagh.
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Fig. 4 Detail of William Duncan's map of 1821

A similar layout of the driveway, house and rectangular boundary was subsequently depicted on a map

prepared by the Boundary Commission in 1832 and reproduced overleaf.

The evidence from mapping suggests that Milltown Park was built at some time between 1816 and 1821.
However, some qualification of these dates is advised, as it often took some years for surveys to be
carried out covering an entire county and the information on maps such as these should not be taken as
meaning literally what was on the ground at the date of publication. Furthermore, these maps cannot be
taken as equivalent to Ordnance Survey maps, as the surveyors did not have the resources of staff or
finances that were later commanded by the Ordnance Survey and they also lacked the legislative

backing that permitted entry to private land to carry out surveys.

During the eighteenth century the part of Milltown on which Milltown Park was later built was farmed by
the Doyle family and it seems likely that the buildings on the western side of Milltown Road opposite
Prospect Lane were the farmhouse and outbuildings occupied by that family. This land, extending to
almost eight hectares, was held under a lease granted in 1741 by Joseph Leeson, later Earl of Milltown
and in 1795 the property was assigned to Denis George. In the following year, Denis George was
granted a lease of a further area of land at Milltown, adjoining the road from Dublin by John Roberts,
and this amounted to a little over five hectares. Denis George was a barrister and in 1785 he had been
appointed Recorder of Dublin, which was a judicial position, in which he presided over the Quarter

Sessions in Dublin City. In 1794 he was appointed Baron of the Court of Exchequer. The timing of this
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appointment coincides with his acquisition of the first plot of land in Milltown and as he was the first
person holding a high position to occupy the land it would seem likely that it was Denis George who
built Milltown Park. The property did not change hands again until 1829, by which time William Duncan’s
map had made it clear that a house had been built on the site. The absence of the house from John

Taylor's map is more likely to be a mapping error or oversight than that Denis George acquired the land

and did not build on it for more than twenty years.
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Fig. 5 Detail of Boundary Commission map showing the house

2.2 Nineteenth century development

Following Denis George’s death the property at Milltown was inherited by his son, Edward George,
though for a time another son, Denis George junior, was living in the house, which was known as
Coldblow.

In 1829 Rev Edward George conveyed the property at Milltown to Richard Connery, a Dublin merchant.
Richard Connery was in business as Richard Connery and Son, timber and general merchants, with
their premises on City Quay and with other properties in the Sir John Rogerson’s Quay area. However,
his occupation of the property in Milltown was brief. He was carrying on a business arrangement with
a firm in London, which involved mortgaging all of his properties to them for the sum of £10,000, which
compares with the £3,500 he had paid for the Milltown property, and he overstretched his finances and
was declared bankrupt in 1831.
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Once Richard Connery’s affairs had been resolved, his Milltown property was sold to George Fitzjames
Russell in 1833 for £3,500 and it appears that it was at this time that the house became known as
Milltown Park. George Russell was not in residence for very long. As soon as he acquired the property
he signed it over to his father-in-law, Francis Hodgkinson, as security for a debt of £2,600 and a year
later he borrowed a further £1,266. By the mid-1830s Francis Hodgkinson was in possession of the
property. George Russell’s interest was confined to the southernmost part of the land, where he built a
terrace of four houses and named them Milltown Colonnade and also built a house called Milltown

Cottage, to the north of Milltown Colonnade and to the south of the original farmhouse.

Francis Hodgkinson was a fellow of Trinity College Dublin. He had been Senior Lecturer in the college
in the opening years of the nineteenth century and was appointed Vice Provost in 1821. He also held
the chair of Modern History and the Regius Professor of Civil Law, the former described as “a complete
sinecure” and the latter involving only “some trivial examining duties”. At the time that his son-in-law
acquired Milltown Park Francis Hodgkinson was in his mid-70s and had been on the board of the
college since the late eighteenth century. Itis said that in his position on the board “he was no trouble
to anybody so long as he accumulated enough sinecures, dispensations and leaves of absence”. This
included stepping down from the post of Vice Provost to become Senior Proctor for the year 1832; this
was the year that the Reform Act gave all who held an MA from the college a vote in elections, resulting
in a substantial increase in the numbers of graduates taking up their MA, each paying a fee of £2 10s
to Hodgkinson for the privilege.'

Following Francis Hodgkinson’s death Milltown Park was sold in 1841 to William Tighe Hamilton, a
barrister who had been called to the barin 1830. His father was Charles Hamilton of Hamwood, County
Meath, while his mother was Marianne Caroline Tighe of Rosanna, County Wicklow and Woodstock,
County Kilkenny. In 1834, William T Hamilton married Louisa Ponsonby, daughter of Sir William
Ponsonby, who had been killed at Waterloo, and niece of Viscount Ponsonby. William T Hamilton’s
career was boosted in 1834 when he was appointed one of the commissioners to investigate the state
of the Anglican church, following which he became Second Remembrancer of the Court of Exchequer.
He retained this position until 1850, when he moved to France and settled in Nice, where he took to

writing, publishing two pampbhlets relating to land law.

" McDowell and Webb, pp. 97-100.
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Fig 6 Detail of Ordnance Survey fair plan of 1837

During the time that Francis Hodgkinson had been in residence at Milltown Park the Ordnance Survey
carried out its field work in the Milltown area and throughout County Dublin. The first manuscript version
of the resulting six-inch map was prepared in 1837 in a version known as the fair plan, a detail of which
is reproduced above. The map clearly shows the entrance leading off Sandford Road opposite Belmont
Avenue. The house at Milltown Park is seen close to the bend in Milltown Road, while the original group
of farm buildings are still visible opposite Mount Prospect. Further to the south the map shows the four
houses at Milltown Colonnade, while Militown Cottage has not yet been built. The demesne of Milltown
Park has a belt of trees running around the western, northern and eastern sides and a number of

individual trees scattered through the grounds.

The printed version of the first Ordnance Survey six-inch maps of Dublin were published in 1843 and
the area around Milltown Park as shown on sheet 22 of that map is reproduced below. While the layout
is essentially the same as had been shown on the manuscript fair plan six years before, some notable
changes had occurred. George Russell had built Milltown Cottage, to the south of Milltown Park and two
large houses in their own grounds had been built to the west of Milltown Park. This appears to have
been another development sponsored by George Russell and the occupiers were two members of the
Bewley family. Of most relevance to the present project, the printed map shows a structure projecting to
the rear of the house at Milltown Park, on its western side. It is possible that this was a detail that was
missed on the original survey, but this seems unlikely and it is probable that represents structures built

by William Tighe Hamilton shortly after his acquisition of the property in 1841.



MILLTOWN PARK Appraisal of Architectural Significance Appendix 7.1

¥
Y o y’
.
¥4
/SN
/“ \“-"
o h.a ‘ 2
b 2 8
e £ N L //
"”«q: Milltowr /85 e L/
e : A b 4 2 7
A AN N 448 (F ,L,,{)r,r’.\ & i .5;1
& SandforgHill . L8y d el 7
ey it ; > Y 3 Wt
": Q'-'.:l “-'.(_\ P 9{ Wil A 1‘4 :S
(% ag /AR A g A G4 > us s % Ry
e ., AN il ¥ bt g 9 8 a2 o/ ey A 4 26
“da Grove =/ %a. ‘0-.,.“ Sountbrospect /| 3 L
J 4\':‘ ﬁ win (ot . SN0 o ; o 8 42
’ s A Sgg e ."‘-55._\"@,_ W it ., 2.
/ 255 QLT RS, . A
: lilltown (blonnade : S X o
; A ‘i N, A
{n B SO
{ L . 5 ::II 2 h ‘;\\: -y ‘rw-r/dm
7 7 fa A ¥ - ' ; o o e 1
« F T Ty EREOE
"‘p n‘:"?._ / A [ a o LR J‘ .
I A 4 & a e - ¢ !
. " L ‘ .4- ' A "|6 -\-,‘
,b,- 4 b {Hl A/l 509 S, ] - e ?.
! | st N e 4 A Lia e 2

Fig 7 Detail of first edition Ordnance Survey six-inch map, 1843. The entrance gates and avenue are largely in
existence to the present day. Note the continued presence of a building group, assumed to be the Cold Blow
farmstead opposing the junction with Prospect Lahe

William T Hamilton was succeeded at Milltown Park by John Calvert Stronge, a police barrister and
Magistrate of College Street Police Office, who had recently married Margaret Zoe Caulfield, sister of
the Earl of Charlemont. The garden at Milltown Park was kept to a high standard and flowers grown
there won various prizes at flower shows. When, in 1858, the Stronges sold the property the various
plants were auctioned off, along with the garden tools and other equipment. J Calvert Stronge moved
to live at Mount Temple, Donnycarney, and in 1866 he was appointed solicitor to the Inland Revenue,
retiring from that position in 1879 at the age of sixty-six. He inherited a baronetcy in 1885 and moved
to live on the family property at Hockley House, near Armagh, where he died in 1899.

Following the departure of the Hamiltons Milltown Park was acquired for the Society of Jesus in 1858
as part of a plan to establish a retreat house, novitiate and school. This required the enlargement of
the premises and soon after acquiring the property the Society built a substantial extension to the rear
of the house, while an additional floor was added to Milltown Park. This new structure is clearly seen
on the Ordnance Survey’s larger scale map, published at the scale of 1:2500 in 1864 and reproduced
below. The original house is seen at the right-hand end of the enlarged building, with its projecting
porch on the eastern side. Multiple internal modifications appear to date from that time with a generation
of new openings to connect the original structure with its rear extension. This substantial addition

brought the ratable value of the buildings up from £81 to £150.
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Fig. 8 Detail of Ordnance Survey map, sheet 22-4, 1864

2.3 Development on the site post acquisition by the Jesuit Order in 1858

The Milltown Park House demesne was acquired by the Society of Jesus (the Jesuit order) in 1858, in
its efforts to establish a retreat house, novitiate and school. The Society acquired the adjoining Elm Hall
demesne in 1884, which incorporated lands later leased to Shamrock Rovers AFC (Glenmalure Park).
A portion of the neighbouring Sandfort (Sandford) Demesne and its two houses, owned by the Bewley

family, was acquired circa 1949, with Gonzaga College founded on this site shortly thereafter.

The Novitiate was founded at Milltown Park between 1860-84; the Philosophate between 1881-88; 1889-
92 and 1918-30; and the Juniorate between 1892-96, with the Theologate established between 1892-
96; 1910-12.

Increased presence at Milltown Park required an ambitious programme of building expansion. The first

phase of construction occurred shortly after the acquisition of the demesne.

Archival research and examination of the building fabric suggest that the first venture arose in the
construction of an extension to the rear and south of Milltown Park House ¢1860, with an additional floor
level above the existing building also added. Multiple internal modifications appear to date from that time
with a generation of new openings to connect the original structure with its rear extension. Close
cartographic review suggests that the rear western wing (matching the southern gable of the house)
together with a link building was constructed first (1860-74), with the space between the H-block infilled
to its present configuration in a later 20" century phase of development (1933).
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Fig. 9 Detail of Ordnance Survey map, sheet 22-08, 1889

A second phase of development followed at the end of the 19" century, in the construction of Tabor
House 1875 and the Chapel 1895. The Chapel boasts stained glass panelling and a rose window by
various studios including Mayer & Co. of Munich / London and Clarke Studios.
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Fig. 10 Photograph of a deed map from 1903 showing the boundary of Theologate property at that time. Note:
map is reproduced upside down to remain consistent with the other maps for comparison purposes.
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Fig 11 1936-43 25inch Ordnance Survey. Development largely consistent with the previously recorded tteration,
however, the gardens and parkland are depicted in greater detail. The Finlay Wing has now been constructed to
the south east of the grouping.
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Fig. 12 Miltown Park, (Tabor House photographed shortly after its construction)

The photograph above, taken by Robert French, probably soon after Tabor House was built, shows the
two-storey link to the earlier buildings. On the left-hand side the northern end of Milltown Park is seen
and the difference in colour of the top floor indicates the addition of that floor some years earlier. This
photograph also confirms that the upper floors of the central section of the rear extension of MPH was

not yet constructed by this time.
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Fig. 13 The Bishop c}‘Cfoyne, Robert Bro
the steps of Tabor House in 1915
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2.2.1. Summary record of the construction of the Chapel

There were a number of smaller chapels within the buildings over the years and in 1896 construction
commenced on a dedicated Community/Domestic or House Chapel. The building is accessed from a
link corridor within Tabor House. No plans or drawings exist, with archive notes based on

correspondence.

The first extant letters of 1891 from William Hague, architect, to Fr. Walsh who was Rector at the time,
mention the price of £3,000 for the proposed chapel. On the 25" of May 1891, Hague acknowledged
that a figure of £3,000 will be the limit of expenditure. By the 6" of June he enquired whether itis intended
to project the chapel at right angles to the Retreat House corridor. By 20" of June plans had progressed.
On 6t of November, Richard Toole, Builder, provided an estimate to Fr. Walsh of £4,400 for the

construction of the chapel.

Correspondence continued from 1893 to 1895 with much argument about the building costs and design.
In 1896 the Jesuits continue to argue that costs were too high and Hague’s counter argument was that
rates had increased and, furthermore, a strike was imminent for higher wages for all tradesmen. Toole
later quoted a slightly reduced price and stated that if this did not meet with approval he would have to
withdraw from the work and seek payment for the small amount already executed. Gradually matters
were resolved and the proposed cost reduced by modifications to the design including a decision,
confirmed by Fr. Tomkin on 8" of April 1896, to continue the work in rubble masonry with cement facing

and not to project the organ gallery onto the roof of the existing corridor.

An agreement was signed on 21%t of September 1896 between Richard Toole and Fr. Patrick Keating,
the Provincial, stating that the chapel was to be finished on or before 1t of March 1898 at the agreed
contract cost of £5,783. There was a separate specification of works, signed on that date, and prepared
by William Hague. This 22-page document referred to plans which now seem to be lost. It gave technical
details such as the use of rubble granite and Portland cement in the walls, the work to be done in cut
granite, and that the floor, ceiling and organ gallery were to be of pitch pine. The shafts in the chancel
arch were to be of polished Galway granite, with polished Sicilian marble bases, while Sicilian marble

was also to be used in the pilasters to the jambs of the side chapels.

In 1897 Musgrave & Co. Ltd. of Belfast sent specifications of the heating apparatus for the chapel and
work must have been well advanced by 1898 as Musgrave sent their bill for heating apparatus in
November and were paid on 19" of April the following year. In 1897 Toole was paid the first instalment
for his work. On 31 of February, Hague wrote to say that payment was due for the marble high altar and
four side altars, and by 2" of June the payment was completed to Thomas Ryan & Sons, sculptors, 30-
32 Lr. Dominick Street.

The chapel must have been consecrated in 1900 although the only reference found in the archives was
an indirect one by Fr. Keating. There is also a large cash book in the archives which summarises the

final total building costs as:



